Georgia State University

ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

Fall 2019

The Relationship Between Parental Criminal History and Substance Use on Child Mental Health

Janhavi A. Dubhashi Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation

Dubhashi, Janhavi A., "The Relationship Between Parental Criminal History and Substance Use on Child Mental Health." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2019. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/686

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Title: The Relationship Between Parental Criminal History and Substance Use on Child Mental Health

By

Janhavi Dubhashi November 21, 2019

Abstract

Background: Since 1991, the number of children with incarcerated mothers has increased by 98% and those with incarcerated fathers has increased by 58%. Estimates from the National Survey of Children's Health suggest that more than 5.1 million children have had a parent incarcerated at some point. Parental incarceration and parental substance abuse can have broad negative impacts on children. Both are considered "adverse childhood experiences" that cause high levels of toxic stress and can lead to lasting harms, both psychologically and physically.

Objective: This research analyzes the relationship between two ACES – parental criminal history and parental substance use – on children's mental health outcomes, specifically, internalizing, externalizing, and adaptive behaviors among a sample of individuals who were in treatment at drug courts.

Methods: That study was conducted at four drug courts in the Atlanta region from 2013-2016, and used a quasi-experimental design involving four drug courts (two adult drug courts and two family treatment courts). As part of that study, families (i.e., a drug court client, their child, and a co-parents) were interviewed at baseline and up to three years following baseline. This analysis uses data from this study; only baseline data from the drug court clients were used.

Results: Parent criminal history was positively related to externalizing behavior indicating that parents with greater levels of criminal history reported children with more externalizing behaviors. Parental substance use did not predict externalizing behavior, internalizing behavior, or adaptive behaviors.

Discussion: This study indicates that the relationship between traumas experienced can be impacted by the child's age and gender. There are many social and contextual factors which are also at play when analyzing children's mental health symptoms. Nevertheless, parental incarceration, parental substance use, and other adverse childhood experiences should be considered when reviewing children's behaviors over time.

The Relationship Between Parental Criminal History and Substance Use on Child Mental Health

by

Janhavi Dubhashi

B.A., GEORGIA STATE UNIVERSITY

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty
of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment
of the
Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303

APPROVAL PAGE

The Relationship Between Parental Criminal History and Substance Use on Child Mental Health					
by					
Janhavi Dubhashi					
Approved:					
Dr. Daniel Whitaker					
Committee Chair					
Dr. Wendy Guastaferro					
Committee Member					
November 21, 2019					
Date					

Author's Statement Page

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Janhavi Dubhashi

Table of Contents

Contents Abstract	1
Table of Contents	5
List of Tables	<i>6</i>
Introduction	7
Adverse Childhood Experiences	8
Parental Incarceration Impact on Children	9
Parental Drug Use Impact on Children:	11
Do child factors affect experiences of parental incarceration and substance abuse?	11
Research question and hypothesis	12
Methods	13
Source of Data	13
Participants	13
Procedure	14
Measures	15
Demographic variables	15
Parent criminal history and substance use	15
Child mental health outcomes	16
Analysis	16
Results	18
Sample description	21
Primary Analysis	21
Moderation Analysis	22
Discussion	24
Overview of Findings	24
Fit of Findings with Other Research	24
Limitations	25
Implications for Future Research	25
Implications for Practice/Policy	26
Conclusion	26
References	28

List of Tables

Table 1: Demographic Variables for the Sample

Table 2: Regression Models Examining Criminal History as a Predictor of Externalizing, Internalizing, and Adaptive Behaviors

Table 3: Regression Models Examining Parental Substance Use as a Predictor of Externalizing, Internalizing, and Adaptive Behaviors

Introduction

Since 1991, the number of children with incarcerated mothers has increased by 98% and those with incarcerated fathers has increased by 58% (Mumola, 2000). The United States accounts for 4.3% of the global population, but for almost a quarter of the prisoners around the world (Walmsley, 2016). The Bureau of Justice Statistics found that in 2010 half of inmates were also parents (2010). Estimates from the National Survey of Children's Health suggest that more than 5.1 million children have had a parent incarcerated at some point (The Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2016).

One of the primary reasons adults are incarcerated in the U.S. are drug-related crimes. The policies that have criminalized drug use resulting from the "War on Drugs" (Moore & Elkavich, 2008) has led to an increase in incarceration for drug-related offences (National Center on Addiction and Substance Abuse, 2010). Since the War on Drugs began in the 1980s, the population of people who have been incarcerated for drug related offenses rose from 40,900 to 452,964 in 2017 (Criminal Justice Facts, n.d.). The policies impact not just those that have been directly incarcerated, but their families and their community (Wilbur et al., 2007). Estimates suggest that at least 12% of US children live in households where a parent has a substance abuse problem needing treatment (Office of Applied Studies, 2009).

Parental incarceration and parental substance abuse can have broad negative impacts on children. Both are considered "adverse childhood experiences" that cause high levels of toxic stress and can lead to lasting harms, both psychologically and physically. The goal of this research is to examine the relationship between parental incarceration and parental substance and child behavioral health among a sample of individuals who were in treatment at drug courts.

Adverse Childhood Experiences

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are traumatic events experienced before the age of 18 that lead to "toxic stress" in a child. Toxic stress is excessive and often prolonged activation of the body's natural stress responses, and can be contrasted to a non-toxic or tolerable stress response (Toxic Stress, n.d.). Over time this culmination of toxic stress can lead to physiological disease, dysfunction, and early death (Felitti, 2002). There are many childhood experiences that can act as ACEs including child abuse, inter-parental violence, parental separation, and parent mental illness. Parental incarceration and parental substance use in the household have also been identified as examples of ACEs (Felitti, 2002). Generally, ACEs have been shown to have negative impacts on children; the number of ACEs experienced relates to negative health outcomes including psychological outcomes such as depression and substance abuse, and physical outcomes such as heart disease and diabetes (Toxic Stress, n.d.).

The inclusion of parental incarceration and/or parental substance abuse as an ACE and their relationship to other ACES has been well documented. For example, controlling for demographic variables, among children under six, parental incarceration was related to a 20% increase in experiencing other ACEs (Murphy & Cooper, 2015), and the risk of divorce or separation for married men is significantly higher when incarcerated (Western, 2006).

Incarceration can be detrimental in and of itself, and it can lead to parents experiencing further disadvantage by way of low income and other economic consequences after release (Geller, Garfinkel, Cooper, & Mincy, 2009). Similarly, parental substance abuse is associated with increased risk for other ACEs (Anda, 2002). Children with parents who have a substance use disorder are more likely to have a lower socioeconomic status, increased difficulties in social/academic settings, and lower family functioning (Peleg-Oren & Teichman 2006). These

children are also at a greater risk for later behavioral and mental problems, which can lead to multigenerational cycles of abuse and neglect (Vincent & Wilson, 2016).

Parental Incarceration Impact on Children

More than 5 million children, or 7% of all United States children have had a parent incarcerated at some point in their lives (Murphey & Cooper, 2015) Children of color, especially Black and Hispanic children, have higher rates of parental incarceration than White children, and Black children experience the highest rates of parental incarceration (Mumola, 2000). National surveys show that the circumstances in which children experience their parent's criminality and incarceration vary (Turney, 2014). Experiencing their parent's arrests can also be traumatizing for children especially if they witness the event, which many do; in a study conducted in Arkansas, 40% of parents reported that their children had been present at their arrest (Harm & Phillips, 1998). There is often a lack of dependable, consistent, and intimate contact between a parent and their child if the parent is incarcerated. Telephone communication is costly, and the costs from collect calls often lead to challenges for families to continue the relationship between the incarcerated parent and the child (Braman, 2004). This contact is also limited by distance, as mothers are housed in prisons at an average of 160 miles from their children and fathers are an average distance of 100 miles away from their children (Hagan & Petty, 2002).

Regarding specific child outcomes, the link between parental incarceration and negative education outcomes for children has been seen as early as age three (Geller, Irwin, Cooper, and Mincy, 2009). Negative health outcomes such as depression, hypertension, obesity, asthma, migraines, high cholesterol, anxiety, and diabetes are particularly common in children of incarcerated parents (Green, Ensminger, Robertson, & Juon, 2006; Lee, Fang, & Luo, 2013; Turney, 2014; Wildeman, Andersen, Lee, & Karlson, 2014; Morsy & Rothstein, n.d.). Children

of parents who are incarcerated are more likely than their peers to be involved with abusing drugs and alcohol (Kemper & Rivara, 1993). As noted above, parental incarceration can confer other risk factors that can affect children such as low income, poor quality schools, living in unsafe neighborhoods, poor diets, and not receiving quality healthcare (Brooks-Gunn, Duncan, & Aber, 1997). Regarding educational outcomes, a study conducted in the Chicago Public Schools found that children with an incarcerated parent had lower standardized test scores than their peers who did not have an incarcerated parent (Cho, 2009). Children with incarcerated parents are more likely to have conduct disorders, delinquent behaviors (Murray & Murray, 2010), disruptive behaviors in the classroom (Dallaire, Ciccone, & Wilson, 2010), and boys who have grown up with an incarcerated father are more likely to engage in delinquent or antisocial behavior in their adolescence and adulthood when compared to their peers (Murray & Farrington, 2008). Children of incarcerated parents are also more likely to drop out of school, develop learning disabilities, misbehave in school (Morsy & Rothstein, n.d.), and are 33% more likely to have speech or language problems (Turney, 2014). Data from a nationally representative, 15-year longitudinal study (The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health) has shown positive and significant associations between parental incarceration and children's mental health problems such as depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Lee, Fang, & Luo, 2013). Swisher & Shaw-Smith's 2015 study measured the relationship between age of first parental incarceration and delinquency using the same data, and found that children under the age of 11 were associated with higher delinquency scores (Swisher & Shaw-Smith, 2015). There was an association between parental incarceration and elevated depressive symptoms in adolescence and young adulthood for children. The results were similar

for levels of anxiety and increased odds of suicidal ideation during young adulthood and adolescence (Khan, Scheidell, Rosen, Geller, & Brotman, 2018).

Parental Drug Use Impact on Children:

The economic burden to society of substance abuse has been estimated at \$414 billion dollars per year (Harwood, Fountain, & Livermore 1998). Estimates suggest that over 8.3 million children live with at least one parent who is abusing drugs or alcohol (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2009). Children of parents with substance use disorders are more likely to experience neglect and abuse (Peleg-Oren & Teichman, 2006), are more likely to use drugs themselves as adolescents (Kilpatrick et al., 2000) compared to children whose parents do not abuse drugs, are more likely to experience inadequate medical/dental care (Callaghan, Crimmins, Schweitzer, 2011), have educational delays (Callaghan, Crimmins, Schweitzer, 2011), and to be at greater risk for mental health and behavioral problems later in life (Johnson & Leff 1999). These mental health problems can include attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, depression, conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, stress related disorders, and trauma (Kendler et al., 2013; Anda et al. 2002). Social, emotional, and behavioral difficulties can occur in the short term and develop into longer term complications (Murray, Farrington, & Sekol, 2012). Studies have shown that there are greater internalizing and externalizing symptoms in children who have alcohol dependent parents when compared to other children (Isidore & James, 2004).

Do child factors affect experiences of parental incarceration and substance abuse?

The way in which children manifest their emotions into problematic (e.g., internalizing, externalizing), or positive (adaptive) behaviors can depend on a litany of factors, some of which

have been examined in the literature. Two potentially important factors in determining children's reactions to parental incarceration and/or substance use are the child's gender and age.

Gender of the child and the parent can be important. For example, girls report higher internalization of symptoms and boys report higher externalization of behaviors after facing parental incarceration (Seymour 1998). Child age can also be important in determining how children react to parent's incarceration or substance use. Keiley et al showed that maltreatment prior to age five had higher internalizing symptoms in adulthood (Keiley, Howe, Dodge, Bates, & Pettit, 2001). Younger children are more susceptible to traumatic experiences, and the age at which the trauma occurs has the potential to influence the etiology of mental health problems (Barnett, Manly, Cicchetti, & 1993; Graham, Litrownik, Everson, Bangdiwala, & 2005). Other studies have shown that abuse or trauma experienced earlier in life, when compared to trauma experienced in adulthood, elevates risk for depressive symptoms and major depressive disorder (Dunn, McLaughlin, Slopen, Rosand, & Smoller, 2013; Maercker, Michael, Fehm, Becker, & Margraf, 2004; Chu, Williams, Harris, Bryant, & Gatt, 2013).

Research question and hypothesis

This research analyzes the relationship between two ACES – parental criminal history and parental substance use – on children's mental health outcomes, specifically, internalizing, externalizing, and adaptive behaviors. I also examined two variables – child age or child gender – as potential moderators of those effects. I hypothesized that parental incarceration and substance abuse will be positively related to internalizing and externalizing behaviors, and negatively related to adaptive behaviors. Regarding the moderators, I hypothesized that relationship between parental criminal history and substance abuse and child outcomes will be stronger for younger children. No specific hypothesis was made regarding child gender.

Methods

Source of Data

This study uses baseline data from a larger study whose focus was to form a partnership involving public and private partners from child welfare, mental health, the justice system, and University-based researchers to implement and evaluate evidence-based services to promote the health and well-being of children affected by parental substance abuse. That study was conducted at four drug courts in the Atlanta region from 2013-2016, and used a quasi-experimental design involving four drug courts (two adult drug courts and two family treatment courts). As part of that study, families (i.e., a drug court client, their child, and a co-parents) were interviewed at baseline and up to three years following baseline. This analysis uses data from this study; only baseline data from the drug court clients were used.

Participants

A total of 144 drug court clients were enrolled at baseline. To be eligible for the study: drug court clients must (1) have been actively enrolled in one of the included drug courts, and (2) must have been acting in a regular parenting role toward a child 0-18, and (3) must have completed the initial phase of drug court, typically a detoxification phase. We defined a 'regular parenting role' as someone who spends time with a child regularly and provides supervision or oversight; it was up to the client to determine if they met those criteria.

Clients answered questions about themselves and a child. When responding to questions about the child, if there were multiple children parented by the drug court client, the project focused on the youngest child who was at least eight years old as the focal child for the assessment. This criterion was set because (1) younger children would be most likely to show change as a result of the interventions, and (2) eight was the youngest age at which a child could

complete the child survey, and (3) by selecting the youngest child, we would maximize the number of years the child would be eligible for the study.

Procedure

Clients were approached through planned recruitment pitches organized between research coordinators and the court staff. The clients met Georgia State University research staff before or after a court session or mandatory event. The research team presented an overview of the study and requirements for participation. Clients were told that their participation was completely voluntary and they could end their participation at any time, and that none of the information they shared with the research team would be shared with the drug court. Clients were told that their input would be used to examine the success of drug and accountability courts are for parents with substance abuse issues.

Clients were screened for eligibility using a one-page form, on which they completed screening items and indicated their interest in participating. Clients who were eligible and interested were contacted for an appointment to conduct the assessment. Trained research assistants traveled to the participant's home or another location of the participant's choice to conduct the assessment. Prior to the assessment, clients were formally consented to participate in the study. The consent included consent regarding the assessment, and permission to link the client's records from drug court and state administrative databases to their survey data. The assessment for adults included an audio-computer assisted self-interview (ACASI), in which a standard battery of research scales was administered. Most participants wore headphones and questions were read to them by the computer, and they entered responses directly into the computer. This provides greater privacy than a face-to-face interview and reducing interviewer biases and participant self-presentation biases.

Measures

Demographic variables. Participants self-reported their age in years, total number of biological children, sex (responses were dichotomized into 'male' and 'female'), race (because of sample size, responses were dichotomized into 'non-white' and 'white'), education (responses were categorized into 'some high school,' 'high school graduate,' and 'some college'), employment status (responses were categorized into 'unemployed,' 'employed <30 hours,' and 'employed > 30 hours'), income level (responses were characterized into '<25K,' '25-35K,' '35-49K' and '>50K'), marital status (responses were dichotomized into 'non-married' and 'married'). Information was also collected on the child of the participants including child gender (responses were dichotomized into 'male' and 'female'), child age (responses were categorized into '0-5 years old,' '6-9 years old,' and '10+ years old'), child relation to the parent (responses were dichotomized into 'biological parent' and 'other relationship').

Parent criminal history and substance use. To measure parent substance use history and criminal history, the Level of Service Inventory-Revised (LSI-R) (Andrews & Bonta, 1995) was used. The LSI-R was not part of the assessment, but was completed by each of the courts upon the client's entry into the drug court program by drug court staff. LSI-R data was obtained and matched with the assessment data. The LSI-R is a broad based assessment tool comprised of 54 items across 10 subscales covering static and dynamic risk factors. The LSI-R has an overall risk score (0-54) as a profile of criminogenic needs and protective factors (Multi-Health Systems, n.d.). Two subscales from the LSI-R were used to measure criminal history and substance use disorders. The criminal history domain includes 10 items which are scored as one point each for a scale range for this sample was from 0 to 8. The substance use domain includes 9 items which are scored as one point for each with a range in this sample from 3 to 9. Questions for the

criminal history domain included: Any prior adult convictions? Two or more prior adult convictions? Three or more prior adult convictions? Three or more present offenses? Arrested under age 16? Ever incarcerated upon conviction? Escape history from a correctional facility? Ever punished for institutional misconduct? Charge laid or probation/parole suspended during prior community supervision? Official record of assault/violence? Questions for the substance use domain included: Alcohol problem, ever? Drug problem, ever? Alcohol problem, currently? Drug problem, currently? Law violations? Marital/family? School/Work? Medical? Other indicators of drug problem?

Child mental health outcomes. Aspects of the child's mental health were measured with the Behavior Assessment System Children-2 (BASC-2). The BASC-2 is a standardized and norm-referenced measure of social behaviors (Reynolds & Kamphaus, 1992) and measures adaptive and problem behaviors in children over two years old. Two types of problems behaviors were examined: externalizing behaviors including aggression, hyperactivity, and attention problems and internalizing behaviors including depression, anxiety, and withdrawal. Adaptive behaviors were also examined, and those include adaptability and social skills (Baillargeon et al., 2007). Clients answered age-specific questions about the target child. The responses were used to generate raw scores, which were used to generate t-scores for each child using age- and sex-specific norms from the BASC manual. These t-scores for the BASC composite scales for externalizing problems, internalizing problems, and adaptive skills were computed and are used as the primary dependent variables.

Analysis

I first computed descriptive statistics for the sample (Table 1) using means and standard deviations for continuous variables and frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. To

test the primary aims of the study, I conducted a series of used regression models with parental criminality or parental substance abuse as the primary independent variables and the three child mental health outcomes (externalizing, internalizing, and adaptive behaviors) as the dependent variables. All models included several control variables: child gender, child age, adult age, adult biological sex, adult race, adult marital status, adult education, adult employment status, adult income, the adult's total number of children, and the adult-child relationship. To test the moderator hypothesis that the impact of parent drug use and/or criminal history would vary by child age and/or child sex, we added interaction terms between each independent variable and a moderator to each regression model. Twelve additional models were conducted, each model testing one interaction generated by two independent variables (drug use, criminal behavior), two moderators (child sex and child gender) and three dependent variables (externalizing, internalizing, and adaptive behaviors). All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4.

Results

Table 1. Demographic variables for the sample

Variable	N (%) or M (sd)
Target Child's Gender:	· / (/
Boys	70 (48.61%)
Girls	74 (51.39%)
Parent Sex:	
Male	67 (46.53%)
Female	77 (53.47%)
Parent Race:	
White	84 (58.33%)
Non-White	60 (41.67%)
Child Age Categories	45 (00 < 40)
0-5	47 (32.64%)
6-9	44 (30.56%)
10+	53 (36.81%)
Parent Age Parent Marital Status	36.2 (8.3)
	62 (42 75%)
Married or living with partner Not married or living with partner	63 (43.75%) 81 (56.25%)
Parental Education	01 (30.23%)
Some High School	28 (19.44%)
High School Graduate	46 (31.94%)
Some College	70 (48.61%)
Parental Employment	, (((((((((((((((((((
Unemployed	16 (11.11%)
<30 hours per week	49 (34.03%)
30+ hours per week	79 (54.86%)
Parental Income	
<25k	81 (59.12%)
25-35k	23 (16.79%)
35-49k	16 (11.68%)
50k+	17 (12.41%)
Parent-Child Relationship	
Biological Parent	118 (81.94%)
Other Relationship	26 (18.06%)
Child Living with Parent	
No	66 (53.23%)
Yes	58 (46.77%)
Average # of Children	1.9 (1.17)
Parent drug yea	4.07 (2.12)
Parent drug use	6.41 (1.44)
Externalizing behaviors	51.32 (10.4) 48.90 (9.10)
Internalizing behaviors Adaptive behaviors	48.90 (9.10) 47.8 (9.85)
Auaptive Deliaviois	41.0 (3.03)

Table 2. Regression models examining criminal history as a predictor of externalizing, internalizing, and adaptive behaviors.

Variable	Externalizing			In	ternalizing		Adaptive		
	Estimate	se	p	Estimate	se	p	Estimate	se	p
Intercept	49.52	8.89	<.01	49.92	7.73	<.0001	39.71	8.67	<.0001
Criminal History	1.25	0.55	0.02	0.15	0.47	0.75	-0.48	0.53	0.37
Child Gender									
male	-0.13	2.23	0.95	1.11	1.94	0.57	0.16	2.18	0.94
female (reference)									
Child Age									
0-5	-5.76	3.03	0.06	-3.28	2.63	0.22	8.19	2.95	0.01
6-9	1.74	2.87	0.54	-0.50	2.49	0.84	1.64	2.80	0.56
10+ (reference)									
Adult Age	-0.24	0.19	0.21	-0.24	0.16	0.15	0.25	0.18	0.17
Parent Sex									
male	-1.75	3.09	0.57	2.93	2.68	0.28	1.09	3.01	0.71
female (reference)		2.00		_,,,					
Race									
non-white	-5.01	4.31	0.25	-7.48	3.75	0.05	-3.70	4.20	0.38
white (reference)									
Education									
Some HS	1.89	3.03	0.53	-1.10	2.63	0.68	-4.24	2.96	0.16
HS Grad	-0.01	2.53	1.0	0.56	2.20	0.80	-3.41	2.47	0.17
Some College (reference)									
Employment Status									
Unemployed	10.64	4.60	0.02	10.78	4.00	0.01	-1.28	4.49	0.78
Employed <30 hours	-1.51	2.73	0.58	0.75	2.37	0.75	2.18	2.66	0.42
Employed >30 hours									
(reference)									
Income									
<25K	-3.37	3.36	0.32	-3.00	2.92	0.31	3.42	3.27	0.30
25-35K	-4.54	3.95	0.25	-3.26	3.44	0.35	6.50	3.86	0.10
35-49K	-2.01	4.29	0.64	2.87	3.73	0.44	-0.54	4.19	0.90
>50K (reference)									
Child Relation to Parent									
Biological Parent	-5.80	3.02	0.06	-2.74	2.63	0.30	-0.06	2.95	0.98
Other (reference)									
Parent Marital Status									
Not-Married	2.22	2.41	0.36	1.62	2.09	0.44	-1.23	2.35	0.60
Married (reference)									
Total # kids	2.12	1.00	0.04	0.44	0.87	0.62	-1.34	0.98	0.18

Table 3: Regression models examining parent's substance use history as a predictor of externalizing, internalizing, and adaptive behaviors.

Variable	Externalizing				Internalizing		Adaptive			
v and one	Estimate	se	p	Estimate	se	p	Estimate	se	p	
Intercept	38.04	10.90	0.00	50.79	9.37	<.0001	50.24	10.36	<.0001	
Drug & Alcohol Use	1.48	0.82	0.08	-0.12	0.71	0.86	-1.38	0.78	0.08	
Child Gender	1.40	0.62	0.00	-0.12	0.71	0.80	-1.36	0.76	0.08	
male	-0.06	2.27	0.98	1.04	1.95	0.59	-0.08	2.15	0.97	
female (reference)	0.00	2.27	0.70	1.04	1.75	0.57	0.00	2.13	0.57	
Child Age										
zero to five	-4.72	3.08	0.13	-3.29	2.65	0.22	7.42	2.93	0.01	
six to nine	2.27	2.92	0.44	-0.57	2.51	0.82	1.06	2.78	0.70	
10 and older (reference)										
Adult Age	-0.13	0.19	0.49	-0.23	0.16	0.16	0.20	0.18	0.25	
Parent Sex										
male	-0.52	3.08	0.87	3.06	2.65	0.25	0.57	2.93	0.85	
female (reference)										
Race										
non-white	-5.00	4.36	0.25	-7.46	3.75	0.05	3.66	4.15	0.38	
white (reference)										
Education										
Some HS	2.24	3.06	0.47	-1.06	2.63	0.69	-4.37	2.91	0.14	
HS Grad	0.03	2.56	0.99	0.68	2.20	0.76	-3.13	2.44	0.20	
Some College (reference)										
Employment Status										
Unemployed	11.20	4.67	0.02	10.69	4.02	0.01	-1.91	4.44	0.67	
Employed <30 hours	-1.76	2.77	0.53	0.78	2.38	0.75	2.42	2.63	0.36	
Employed >30 hours (reference)										
Income										
<25K	-2.19	3.34	0.51	-2.79	2.87	0.33	3.15	3.17	0.32	
25-35K	-3.82	3.98	0.34	-3.15	3.42	0.36	6.28	3.79	0.10	
35-49K	-0.94	4.40	0.83	2.75	3.78	0.47	-1.63	4.18	0.70	
>50K (reference)										
Child Relation to Parent										
Biological Parent	-5.67	3.06	0.07	-2.71	2.63	0.31	-0.05	2.91	0.99	
Other (reference)										
Parent Marital Status										
Not-Married	0.58	2.44	0.81	1.57	2.09	0.46	-0.21	2.31	0.93	
Married (reference)										
Total # kids	2.92	1.03	0.01	0.44	0.89	0.62	-1.88	0.98	0.06	

Sample description

Table 1 shows a summary statistics sample for sample demographics. The sample was about half men and half women, and slightly more than half (58%) were white. Just under half were married, and the majority were high school graduates or had some college. Most were employed full or part time, but 59% had income of less than \$25,000 per year. Children were evenly split across the three age categories. There was also an even distribution of boys (48.6%) and girls (51.4%). Slightly less than half (46.8%) of children lived with their parent, while a slight majority (53.2%) did not. A majority of the parents (81.94%) in the original study were biological parents of the children used in this study.

Primary Analysis

Table 2 shows a linear regression analysis of parental criminal history on internalizing, externalizing, and adaptive behaviors for children. Table 3 shows a linear regression analysis of parental substance use on internalizing, externalizing, and adaptive behaviors for children. All models controlled adjusted for child gender, child age, adult age, adult race, adult marital status, adult education level, adult employment status, adult income level, the total number of children each adult had, and the relationship between the child and the adult.

Parent criminal history was positively related to externalizing behavior (b = 1.25, se = 0.55, p = 0.02), indicating that parents with greater levels of criminal history reported children with more externalizing behaviors. The only other significant predictors of externalizing behaviors were being unemployed (b = 10.64) and number of children (b = 2.12). Parent criminal history did not predict child internalizing behaviors; the only significant predictors of child internalizing behavior were adult race, with non-whites reported fewer internalizing behaviors (b = -7.48), and being unemployed, which was associated with greater internalizing

behaviors (b = 10.78). Parent criminal history also did not predict child adaptive behaviors. The only significant predictor of child adaptive behaviors was child age such that parents of children ages 0-5 reported more adaptive behaviors than parents of children ages 10 and up (b = 8.19).

Parental substance use did not predict externalizing behavior (b = 1.48, se = 0.82, p = 0.08). The only significant predictors of externalizing behaviors were employment status and total number of children; being employed (b = 11.2) and having more children (b = 2.92) were related to greater externalizing behaviors. Parent substance use did not predict child internalizing behaviors (b = -0.12). The only significant predictors of child internalizing behavior were employment status such that being unemployed was related to greater internalizing problems (b = 10.69). Parent substance use also did not predict child adaptive behaviors (b = -1.38). The only significant predictor of child adaptive behaviors was child age; parents of children ages 0-5 reported more adaptive behaviors than parents of children ages 10 and up (b = 8.19).

Moderation Analysis

To test whether the effect of parental criminal history or parental alcohol/other drugs usage on child outcomes was moderated by child age or gender, 12 separate regression models were run, each with an interaction term between one of the predictors (parent criminal history, parent drug use) and a moderator (child gender, child age) for each outcome (externalizing, internalizing, adaptive behaviors). Of the 12 interactions terms, 2 were significant: the relationship between criminal history and adaptive behaviors was moderated by gender (p = 0.04) and the relationship between substance use and adaptive behaviors was moderated by age (p = 0.04). More specifically, the relationship between parent criminal history and adaptive behaviors was null among boys (b = 0.61, se = 1.2, p = 0.6), but negative among girls (b = -1.31,

se=0.63, p=0.04). Parental substance use was negatively related to adaptive behaviors only among parents of children ages 6-9 (b=-3.7, se=1.4, p=0.02); it was unrelated among parents of children ages 0-5 (b=-3.0, se=3, p=0.34), and for parents of children ages 10 and over (b=1.04, se=1.40, p=0.46).

Discussion

Overview of Findings

The goal of this paper was to examine how child age and gender could impact internalizing, externalizing, and adaptive behavioral outcomes based off of parental criminality and substance abuse. Parental criminal history was unrelated to internalizing behaviors or adaptive behaviors, and parental substance use was unrelated to all three of the child outcomes. We found that parental criminal history was related to greater levels of externalizing behaviors in their children, even when controlling for demographic risk.

We found two moderated relationships. Greater parent criminality was related to lower adaptive behaviors but only for girls, and not boys. Parental substance abuse was related to lower adaptive behaviors, but only among children ages 6-9, and not among younger or older children.

Fit of Findings with Other Research

Other studies have found that children of incarcerated parents are at an increased risk for internalizing and externalizing symptoms (Johnson, 2009; Murray, Farrington, Sekol, & Olsen, 2009). Studies have also found that children of parents with alcohol and drug use disorders are at an increased risk for internalizing (Bornovalova, Hicks, Iacono, & McGue, 2010; Marmorstein, Iacono, & McGue 2009) and externalizing symptoms (Eiden, Edwards, & Leonard, 2007). However, this study found largely null results, and it is unclear why. Considering the sample included here are individuals with a strong history of substance use problems (hence their involvement in drug courts), this is one possible reason for the lack of correlation. That is, there may be limited variability in substance use behaviors that could relate to child outcomes.

Limitations

There are several limitation of this research. First, we were able to examine only three child outcomes. Other outcomes, such as child trauma symptoms, may be impacted by parental substance use and criminality. Though the study assessed trauma symptoms directly from the children in the study, there were too few children who participated in the surveys to conduct the appropriate analyses. Another limitation is that we did not assess for the presence of many other ACES such as parental mental illness, divorce, and domestic violence, and those may have also impacted child behavior. Finally, the measure of both criminal behavior and substance use were broad and left out many important aspects that may affect the relationship to child outcomes. For example, the parental criminal history did not include an assessment of when crimes were committed (the child may not have been born) and whether the child witnessed an arrest, or was separated from the parent. Similarly, questions regarding parental substance abuse also did not include time of heavy substance use and if/when children were subject to experiencing their parents use. A final limitation was that the aspects of the relationship between the parent and the child that could have affected outcomes were uncontrolled. In spite of these limitations, this current study is unique in its use of moderating for both age and gender during analysis of child behavior for children impacted by parental criminal history or parental drug abuse.

Implications for Future Research

Future studies may well examine parental incarceration and substance use disorder on children's trauma symptoms. Future studies should also examine the longitudinal relationships existing between parental substance use and parental incarceration, and how the mental health of children of these adults is impacted. Future studies should also take into account how many other

ACEs the child has experienced, as children of incarcerated parents and substance abusing parents are at risk for other ACEs.

Implications for Practice/Policy

By further understanding the relationship between these variables, we can focus on the development of interventions and policies which specifically and effectively target both the children and parents. Having a parent incarcerated is a loss that often times is not socially approved or supported, which can add to a child's pain and grief and lead to problem behaviors (Arditti 2012). The Children with Incarcerated Parents (CIP) Initiative is an example of the type of multi-agency required to provide support to children who are experiencing parental incarceration through using data and knowledge to inform public policy and practice (Kjellstrand, Reinke, & Eddy, 2018).

Another issue that must be addressed is that of racial disparities. Black adults are incarcerated at a rate nearly six times the rate of White adults (Sakala 2014). These racially disparate outcomes (Balko, R. 2018) are represented with findings that show 50% of Black children experience parental incarceration when compared with just 4% of White children (Turney, 2017). Thus it is important to understand whether there is any differential impact of that incarceration, given the disparities in the level of incarceration. It is important to ensure that interventions and resources are available for children who are disproportionately impacted by the criminal justice system.

Conclusion

With a rise over fewer than 40 years from 200,000 prisoners to 2.2 million in the United States (National Research Council, 2014), it is imperative that more research is done to look at the children of these adults. Child experiences occurring in the early years are indicators of

children's mental health outcomes as they develop and age. Research has increasingly shown that children are negatively impacted by parental incarceration and parental substance abuse, especially children's mental health and behaviors. This study indicates that the relationship between traumas experienced can be impacted by the child's age and gender. There are many social and contextual factors which are also at play when analyzing children's mental health symptoms. Nevertheless, parental incarceration, parental substance use, and other adverse childhood experiences should be considered when reviewing children's behaviors over time.

References

Anda RF, Whitfi eld CL, Felitti VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences, alcoholic parents, and later risk of alcoholism and depression. Psychiatr Serv. 2002;53(8):1001–1009

Anda RF, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, Chapman D, Edwards VJ, Dube SR, Williamson DF. Adverse childhood experiences, alcoholic parents, and later risk of alcoholism and depression Psychiatr Serv. 2002 Aug; 53(8):1001-9.

Andrews, D.A., & Bonta, J. (1995). The Level of Service Inventory-Revised. Toronto, Canada: Multi-Health Systems

Arditti, J. A. (2012). Child trauma within the context of parental incarceration: A family process perspective. Journal of Family Theory & Review, 4, 181-219.

Bailey JA, Hill KG, Oesterle S, Hawkins JD. Linking substance use and problem behavior across three generations. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2006;34(3):263–292

Baillargeon, R. H., Normand, C. L., Séguin, J. R., Zoccolillo, M., Japel, C., Pérusse, D., Wu, H. X., Boivin, M., & Tremblay, R. E. (2007). The evolution of problem and social competence behaviors during toddlerhood: A prospective population-based cohort survey. Infant Mental Health Journal, 28, 12-38. doi:10.1002/imhj.20120

Balko, R. (2018). There's overwhelming evidence that the criminal-justice system is racist. Here's the proof. The Washington Post. [online] Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/opinions/wp/2018/09/18/theres-overwhelmingevidence-that-the-criminal-justice-system-is-racistheres-the-proof/?utm_term=.1f05e1b02672

Barnett D, Manly JT, Cicchetti D. Defining child maltreatment: The interface between policy and research. In: Cicchetti D, Toth SL, editors. Child abuse, child development, and social policy. Norwood, NJ: Ablex; 1993. pp. 7–73

Bornovalova M, Hicks B, Iacono W, McGue M. Familial transmission and heritability of childhood disruptive disorders. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2010;167:1066–1074.

Braman, D. (2004). Doing time on the outside: Incarceration and familylife in urban America. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press

Brooks-Gunn Jeanne, Duncan Greg J, Aber Lawrence J. Neighborhood Poverty. Context and Consequences for Children. I. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation; 1997

Bureau of Justice Statistics. Parents in Prison and Their Minor Children. US Department of Justice; 2010

Callaghan T, Crimmins J, Schweitzer RD. Children of substance-using mothers: child health engagement and child protection outcomes. J Paediatr Child Health. 2011;47(4):223–227

Cho RM. The impact of maternal imprisonment on children's educational achievement results from children in Chicago public schools. J Hum Resour. 2009;44(3):772–797

Chu DA, Williams LM, Harris AW, Bryant RA, Gatt JM. Early life trauma predicts self-reported levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms in nonclinical community adults: relative contributions of early life stressor types and adult trauma exposure. J Psychiatr Res. 2013 Jan; 47(1):23-32.

Criminal Justice Facts. (n.d.). Retrieved November 7, 2019, from https://www.sentencingproject.org/criminal-justice-facts/.

Dallaire DH, Ciccone A, Wilson LC. Teachers' experiences with and expectations of children with incarcerated parents. J Appl Dev Psychol. 2010;31(4):281–290.

Dunn EC, McLaughlin KA, Slopen N, Rosand J, Smoller JW. Developmental timing of child maltreatment and symptoms of depression and suicidal ideation in young adulthood: results from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. Depress Anxiety. 2013 Oct; 30(10):955-64.

Eiden RD, Edwards EP, Leonard KE. A conceptual model for the development of externalizing behavior problems among kindergarten children of alcoholic families: Role of parenting and children's self-regulation. Developmental Psychology. 2007;43:1187–1201

Felitti V. J. (2002). The Relation Between Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Health: Turning Gold into Lead. The Permanente journal, 6(1), 44–47.

Geller Amanda, Irwin Garfinkel, Carey Cooper, and Ronald Mincy 2009. Parental incarceration and childhood wellbeing: Implications for urban families. Social Science Quarterly 90:1186-202.

Geller, A., Garfinkel, I., Cooper, C. E., & Mincy, R. B. (2009). Parental Incarceration and Child Wellbeing: Implications for Urban Families. Social science quarterly, 90(5), 1186–1202. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6237.2009.00653.x

Graham JC, Litrownik AJ, Everson M, Bangdiwala SI, Defining maltreatment chronicity: are there differences in child outcomes? English DJ, Child Abuse Negl. 2005 May; 29(5):575-95.

Green, K.M., Ensminger, M.E., Robertson, J.A., Juon H. 2006. "The Impact of Adult Sons' Incarceration on African American Mothers' Psychological Distress' Journal of Marriage and Family 68: 430-41.

Hagan and Petty. 2002. "Returning Captives of the American War on Drugs: Issues of Community and Family Reentry." Paper prepared for the Reentry Roundtable, Washington, D.C., Oct. 12–13, 2000.

Harm, N. J., & Phillips, S. D. (1998). Helping children cope with thetrauma of parental arrest.Interdisciplinary Report on At-Risk Children and Families, 1,35–36

Harwood H, Fountain D, Livermore G. The economic costs of alcohol and drug abuse in the United States 1992. Washington DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 1998. Isidore S. Obot PhD and MPH & James C. Anthony PhD (2004) Mental Health

Johnson JL, Leff M. Children of substance abusers: overview of research findings. Pediatrics.1999;103(5 pt 2):1085–1099

Johnson, R. Ever-increasing levels of parental incarceration and the consequences for children. In: Raphael, S.; Stoll, M., editors. Do prisons make us safer? The benefits and costs of the prison boom. New York: Russell Sage; 2009. p. 177-206

Keiley MK, Howe TR, Dodge KA, Bates JE, Pettit GS. The timing of child physical maltreatment: A cross-domain growth analysis of impact on adolescent externalizing and internalizing problems. Development and Psychopathology. 2001; 13:891–912. [PubMed: 11771913]

Kemper KJ, Rivara FP Parents in jail. Pediatrics. 1993 Aug; 92(2):261-4.

Kendler KS, Gardner CO, Edwards A, et al. Dimensions of parental alcohol use/problems and offspring temperament, externalizing behaviors, and alcohol use/problems. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2013;37(12):2118–2127

Khan, M. R., Scheidell, J. D., Rosen, D. L., Geller, A., & Brotman, L. M. (2018). Early age at childhood parental incarceration and STI/HIV-related drug use and sex risk across the young adult lifecourse in the US: Heightened vulnerability of black and Hispanic youth. Drug and alcohol dependence, 183, 231–239. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.11.006

Kilpatrick DG, Acierno R, Saunders B, Resnick HS, Best CL, Schnurr PP. Risk factors for adolescent substance abuse and dependence: data from a national sample. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2000 Feb; 68(1):19-30.

Kjellstrand, J. M., Reinke, W. M., & Eddy, J. M. (2018). Children of incarcerated parents: Development of externalizing behaviors across adolescence. Children and Youth Services Review, 94, 628–635. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.09.003

Lee, R. D., Fang, X., & Luo, F. (2013). The impact of parental incarceration on the physical and mental health of young adults. Pediatrics, 131(4), e1188–e1195. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-0627 Maercker A, Michael T, Fehm L, Becker ES, Margraf J. Age of traumatisation as a predictor of post-traumatic stress disorder or major depression in young women. Br J Psychiatry. 2004 Jun; 184():482-7.

Marmorstein NR, Iacono WG, McGue M. Alcohol and illicit drug dependence among parents: Associations with offspring externalizing disorders. Psychological Medicine. 2009;39:149–155.

Moore, L. D., & Elkavich, A. (2008). Who's Using and Who's Doing Time: Incarceration, the War on Drugs, and Public Health. American Journal of Public Health, 98(Supplement_1). doi: 10.2105/ajph.98.supplement_1.s176

Morsy, L., & Rothstein, R. (n.d.). Mass incarceration and children's outcomes: Criminal justice policy is education policy. Retrieved November 7, 2019, from https://www.epi.org/publication/mass-incarceration-and-childrens-outcomes/.

Multi-Health Systems, Inc. website at: http://www.mhs.com/product.aspx?gr=saf&prod =lsi-r&id=overview Retrieved November 15, 2019

Mumola C. Incarcerated Parents and Their Children. US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs; Washington, DC: 2000

Mumola, C. (2000). Bureau of Justice Statistics Special Report: Incarcerated Parents and Their Children. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics

Murphey, D., & Cooper, P. M. Parents Behind Bars: What Happens to Their Children? Washington, DC: Child Trends, 2015, October.

Murray J, Farrington DP. Parental imprisonment: long-lasting effects on boys' internalizing problems through the life course. Dev Psychopathol. 2008 Winter; 20(1):273-90.

Murray J, Murray L, Parental incarceration, attachment and child psychopathology. Attach Hum Dev. 2010 Jul; 12(4):289-309.

Murray, J., Farrington, D. P., & Sekol, I. (2012). Childrens antisocial behavior, mental health, drug use, and educational performance after parental incarceration: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychological Bulletin, 138(2), 175–210. doi: 10.1037/a0026407

Murray, J.; Farrington, DP.; Sekol, I.; Olsen, RF. Effects of parental imprisonment on child antisocial behaviour and mental health: A systematic review. Campbell Systematic Reviews 2009. 2009. Available at http://campbellcollaboration.org/lib/

National Center on Addiction and Substance Abuse . Behind Bars II: Substance Abuse and America's Prison Population. New York, NY: Columbia University; 2010

National Research Council. 2014. The Growth of Incarceration in the United States: Exploring Causes and Consequences. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/18613.

Office of Applied Studies. The NSDUH Report: Children Living with Substance-Dependent or Substance-Abusing Parents: 2002 to 2007. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: 2009.

Peleg-Oren N, Teichman M. Young children of parents with substance use disorders (SUD): a review of the literature and implications for social work practice. J Soc Work Pract Addict. 2006;6(1–2):49–61.

Peleg-Oren, N., & Teichman, M. (2006). Young children of parents with substance use disorders (SUD): A review of the literature and implications for social work practice. Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions, 6(1–2), 49–61

Problems in Adolescent Children of Alcohol Dependent Parents: Epidemiologic Research with a Nationally Representative Sample, Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse, 13:4, 83-96, DOI: 10.1300/J029v13n04_06

Raymond R. Swisher and Unique R. Shaw-Smith, Paternal Incarceration And Adolescent Well-Being: Life Course Contingencies And Other Moderators, 104 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 929 (2015). https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/jclc/vol104/iss4/7

Reynolds CR, Kamphaus RW. BASC: Behavior Assessment System for Children: Manual. American Guidance Service, Incorporated; 1992.

Reynolds, C. R., & Kamphaus, R. W. (2004). Behavior Assessment System for Children: Second edition (BASC-II). Circle Pines, MN: AGS Publishing.

Sakala, L. (2014) Breaking Down Mass Incarceration in the 2010 Census. [online] Prison Policy Initiative. Available at: https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/rates.html

Seymour C, Children with parents in prison: child welfare policy, program, and practice issues., Child Welfare. 1998 Sep-Oct; 77(5):469-93.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration . The NSDUH Report: Children Livng with Substance-Dependent or Substance-Abusing Parents: 2002 to 2007. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2009

The Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2016) A Shared Sentence: The Devastating Toll of Parental Incarceration on Kids, Families, and Communities. Baltimore, MD: The Annie E. Casey Foundation. Retrieved from: https://www.aecf.org/resources/a-shared-sentence/.

Toxic Stress. (n.d.). Retrieved November 7, 2019, from https://developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/toxic-stress/.

Turney, K. (2017). Unmet Health Care Needs among Children Exposed to Parental Incarceration. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 21(5), 1194–1202. doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2219-2

Turney, Kristin, "Stress Proliferation across Generations? Examining the Relationship between Parental Incarceration and Childhood Health," Journal of Health and Social Behavior 55, no. 3 (2014), 310. doi:10.1177/0022146514544173

Vincent C. Smith, Celeste R. Wilson and COMMITTEE ON SUBSTANCE USE AND PREVENTION. Families Affected by Parental Substance Use. Vincent C. Smith, Celeste R. Wilson and COMMITTEE ON SUBSTANCE USE AND PREVENTION. Pediatrics August 2016, 138 (2) e20161575; DOI: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1575

Walmsley R. World Prison Population List. 11th ed London, UK: International Centre for Prison Studies, Kings College; 2016

Western Bruce. Punishment and Inequality in America. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation; 2006.

Wilbur, M. B., Marani, J. E., Appugliese, D., Woods, R., Siegel, J. A., Cabral, H. J., & Frank, D. A. (2007). Socioemotional effects of fathers' incarceration on low-income, urban, school-aged children. Pediatrics, 120(3), e678–e685. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-2166

Wildeman, C., Andersen, S.H., Lee, H. & Karlson, K.B. 2014. Parental incarceration and child mortality in Denmark. American Journal of Public Health 104(3): 428-433.